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DECISION'
- STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case arose under the Federal Service Labor-Management Relations Statute
(Statute), 5 U.S.C. §§ 7101-7135 and the revised Rules and Regulations of the Federal Labor

Relations Authority (FLRA/Authority), part 2423,

On May 19, 2015, the American Federation of Government Employees, Local 1336,
AFL-CIO (Charging Party/Union) filed an unfair labor practice (ULP) charge against the
Social Security Administration, Region VII, Kansas City Office (SSA/Respondent), alleging
the Respondent committed a ULP by changing the conditions of employment for bargaining
unit employees when it changed the office structure to an all Claims Representative office
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without providing the Union with notice and refusing to bargain over the change.

GC Ex. 1(a). After an investigation of the charge, the Chicago Regional Director issued a
Complaint and Notice of Hearing on November 30, 2015, alleging that the Respondent
violated § 7116(a)(1) and (5) of the Statute by implementing a change in the bargaining unit
employees’ conditions of employment when it implemented new duties for Claims
Representatives by assigning those employees duties previously performed by Service
Representatives without giving the Union notice of the change and an opportunity to bargain
over the change to the extent required by Statute. GC Ex. 1(b). The Respondent filed its
Answer to the Complaint on December 28, 2015, denying that new duties not previously
performed by Claims Representatives were assigned and denymg that they failed and refused
to bargaln in good faith. GC Ex. 1(c).

A hearing on the matter was conducted on February 24, 2016, in Jefferson City,
Missouri. All parties were represented and afforded an opportunity to be heard, introduce
evidence, and examine witnesses. Both the General Counsel and Respondent filed post-
hearing briefs which I have fully considered.

Based on the entire record, including my observation of the witnesses and their
demeanor, I find that the Respondent violated § 7116(a)(1) and (5) of the Statute when the:-
Respondent failed and refused to bargain in good faith with the Union. I find that the
Respondent changed conditions of employment for some bargaining unit employees and that
the change had a greater than de minimis effect on those employees. In support of this
determination, I make the following findings of fact, conclusions of law, and
recommendatlons

FINDINGS OF FACT

The Respondent is an agency within the meaning of § 7103(a)(3) of the Statute.
GC Ex. 1(b). At all material times, Ruth Taylor was the District Manager, Diane Mormann
was the Assistant District Manager, and Matthew Haeffner was the Operations Supervisor.

They are supervisors and/or management officials within the meaning-of §§ 7103(a)(10) and - -

(11) of the Statute. GC Ex. 1(b). The American Federation of Government Employees
(AFGE) is a labor organization within the meaning of § 7103(a)(4) of the Statute and is the
certified exclusive representative of a nationwide unit of Social Security Administration
employees, which includes employees at the Respondent’s Jefferson City, Missouri field
office. The Union is an agent of AFGE for the purpose of representing unit employees at the

Respondent’s offices in Kansas, Missouri, Nebraska, Iowa and Texas, including those at the

Jefferson City office. Id.

Distinctions Between Positions

The primary duty of a Service Representative (SR) is to provide assistance to
beneficiaries and the public regardmg all programs administered by the SSA. GC Ex. 5.
An SR is responsible for duties including, but not limited to: (1) conducting initial
interviews with beneficiaries and/or representatives and the public to determine the nature of
their problem or interest; (2) processing Title II or Title XVI post-entitlement workloads;
(3) processing Social Security Number applications; (4) completing Title XVT applications,
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(5) processing payments; and (6) explaining overpayments and reconciling discrepancies that
cause an interruption in the receipt of benefits. Jd. Essentially, an SR primarily performs
administrative duties before and after entitlement determinations are made by a Claims
Representative. The official title on the SR position description is contact representative,
which demonstrates the receptionist nature of the position. GC Ex. 5.

The principal duty of a Claims Representative (CR) is to perform duties related to
either Title II or Title XVI, or as a generalist in both programs. GC Ex. 4. A CR is
responsible for duties that include, but are not limited to: (1) interviewing to obtain
information about an individual for initial and continued eligibility; (2) assisting applicants
with securing the evidence needed to determine entitlement; (3) examining evidence to
evaluate the validity and acceptability in establishing entitlement; (4) identifying the need for
social services, (5) determining the benefit amount payable to those qualified, and
(6) resolving field office jurisdictional questions. Id. In large part, a CR performs
investigative duties and makes adjudicatory determinations.

The distinctions between the SR and CR duties are evidenced by the Respondent’s.
own establishment of separate grades, classifications, position descriptions, performance
plans and training programs for the positions. The initial grade for the SR position on the:x:
Federal General Schedule (GS) is GS-8, while the starting grade for the CR position is
GS-11. GC Bx. 4, 5. Clearly, SSA and the Office of Personnel Management recognize a
substantial difference in the difficulty of the duties réquired of the two positions.

The Office

In October of 2014, there were four Service Representatives and eleven Claims
Representatives employed at the Jefferson City field office. Tr. 17. During the second week
of that month, there was a staff meeting in which Ruth Taylor, District Manager, announced
that there were going to be two or more inter-office promotions from SR to CR. Id All four
SRs applied for the CR positions and by December, all four SR applicants were notified of
their promotion to the CR position. Id at 18.

At a staff meeting in January 2015, it was disclosed that the Jefferson City office
would become an all CR office because all the SRs within the office were promoted to
CR positions. As a result, the administrative and receptionist type work previously
performed by SRs would be distributed to the entire CR staff. Tr.20-21.

Those CRs who had previously performed only CR work began training on the
duties typically performed by SRs as they would be assigned that work under the office
structure that consolidated the SR and CR duties. Tr. 50. The training calendar for the
incumbent CRs ranged from February 2015 to September 2015, Id. at 51. The CRs watched
videos related to a specific subject matter typically handled by an SR in a conventional field
office. Id. at 50. The CRs would then be assigned the type of work covered by the training
for completion. Tr. 59. For example, if a CR received training on how to process a request
for an original Social Security number, at the completion of training they were expected to be
able to perform the duty previously performed by a SR. '
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In May 2015, the newly promoted CRs were placed into a four month long training
program covering the duties typically performed by a CR in a conventional field office.
Tr. 33. This training provided the new promoted SRs with the knowledge and skills
necessary to perform their new CR work. Tr. 32-33. During this training, the former
SRs were engaged in training on a full time basis and the incumbent CRs were assigned the
SR duties and responsibilities previously performed by the newly appointed CRs. Id. at 32,
61-62: :

The incumbent CRs working in the Jefferson City field office before it was converted
to an all CR office testified that after the promotions went into effect, between forty and sixty
percent of their work was devoted to duties previously performed by a SR. Tr. 61, 94. ‘
Additionally, SR work was given priority over CR work because it involved direct
interaction with applicants and the general public in-person or by telephone. Id. at 62-63.

POSITIONS OF THE PARTIES

General Counsel

Section 7116(a)(1) of the Statute states that it is an unfair labor practice for an agency. -
to interfere with, restrain, or coerce any employee in the exercise by the employee of any;
right and § 7116(a)(5) states that it is an unfair labor practice for an agency to refuse to
consult or negotiate in good faith with a labor orga_hization. ' '

' The General Counsel (GC) contends that the Respondent violated § 7116(a)(1) and
(5) of the Statute by failing to provide notice and to bargain in good faith before
consolidating the duties performed within the SR and CR positions. The GC argues that the
imposition of SR duties upon the incumbent CRs within the office adversely impacted the
performance of their CR duties, which impacts awards, promotions, and step increases, along
with instilling worry and stress that the GS-11 CR position will be downgraded to a lower
grade, because the d_uties of the GS-8 SR position were added to the position. Tr. 12.

The GC alleges that the action by the Respondent constituted a significant change
that requires notice and bargaining if requested. Tr. 11. The GC argues that the prothotion
of all the SRs resulted in the CRs being required to perform lesser graded duties previously
performed by the SRs. Id. Further, when the promoted employees completed training, all
were designated as Title XVI CRs, which meant that the Title II CRs had none of their
CR workload reduced, while they absorbed their share of SR duties. Id. at 12. The
GC contends that the reassignment of SR work to the CRs within the office reduced the
amount of CR work the employees can complete, which affects their cash awards, step
increases, and promotion potential, and could result in a performance-based action. Id.

As a remedy, the GC seeks post-implementation bargaining and a notice
posted at all field offices in Region VII, and distributed by email to all bargaining unit
employees represented by the Union. B ‘




Respondent

The Respondent claims that the issue of the case is not about the violation of the
Statute as a result of the change in duties. Instead, the Respondent frames the issue as an
 alleged violation of the Statute based upon the promotion of four Service Representatives to
Claims Representative positions. Tr. 13. To this, the Respondent argues that there is no
violation. Id.

Also, the Respondent asserts that the amount of work for the employees in the /
Jefferson City office was not changed, Id. The Respondent contends the original Claims
Representatives have not had to perform new work because they were familiar with SR
workloads, and that they were provided training on any new duties with which they needed
assistance. Id. | ' :

Further, the Respondent alleges that not a single condition of employment changed as
a result.of the promotions. Id. at 14. The Respondent compiled a list of factors including:
(1) wages; (2) office hours; (3) lunches and breaks; (4) leave approvals; (5) leave
procedures; (6) performance appraisals; (7) overtime opportunities; and (8) operating
procedures, which the Respondent contends remained the same. Id. Further, the Respondent
-argues that even if a condition was changed, the change was not greater than de minimis: /d.

Finally, the Respondent argues that the result of the General Counsel’s position
would require the SSA to bargain with the Union any time an office made staffing changes.
Id. at 15. According to the Respondent, imposing a duty to bargain every time the SSA
promotes an employee or when an employee retires, would create an “absurd” result that
cannot be the purpose of the Statute. Id.

ANALYSIS AND DISCUSSION

Before discussing the change to conditions of employment and whether the change
was greater than de minimis, I address the Respondent’s mistaken assertion that this case is
not about a change in duties, but instead concerns the bargaining burden placed upon an
agency when promotions are made. Manufacturing a dispute you can win when facing
adverse facts serves little purpose. Itisa waste of government time and resources, along
with taxpayer’s money. The Complaint in this case did not allege that the Respondent
violated the Statute by promoting Service Representatives to Claims Representative
positions. The Complaint alleged that the Respondent implemented new duties for Claims
Representatives by assigning them the lesser graded duties previously performed by Service
Representatives. ' ‘

While the need for CRs to perform new duties was precipitated by Respondent’s
promotion of all of the Sérvice'Representativ,es'in the office, the crux of the Complaint was
not that Service Representatives were given new duties pursuant to a promotion. The crux
was that Claims Representatives now had to perform lesser graded Service Representative
duties because there were no longer any Service Representatives assigned to the office. Had
the Respondent replaced the Service Representatives it promoted and not altered the duties of
Claims Representatives already working in the office, no change requiring bargaining would
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have occurred. But alas, and perhaps in reliance upon misguided legal advice, the

Respondent did not solve the problem of who would perform SR duties by hiring

- replacement SRs. Tr. 132. Instead, within this particular office, it consolidated the work of
the SR and CR positions, creating a hybrid of the GS-8 SR position and the GS-11

CR position, and it is the new duties assigned to the CRs pursuant to the consolidation that is

the matter at issue in this case. Put another way, had the Respondent permanently assigned

lesser graded duties to CRs that constituted forty to sixty percent of their duty day, the

change would have requlred notice and an opportunity to bargain even if no SRs were

promoted, because that raises a legitimate question as to whether the duties performed within

the position remains prope1 ly graded.

A Change in Workmg Cond1t10ns

The determination of whether a change in condmons of employment occurred
fequlres a case-by-case analysis and inquiry into the facts and circumstances regarding the
agency’s conduct and employees’ conditions of employment. U.S. DHS, Border & Transp.
Sec. Directorate, U.S. Customs & Border Prot., Border Patrol, T ucson Sector, Tucson, Az.,
60 FLRA 169 (2004). The burden is on the General Counsel to prove the elements of the .
alleged violation by a preponderance of the evidence. Air Force F lzght Test Ctr., Edwards:.:
AFB, Cal., 55 FLRA 116, 121 (1999). )

I find that the changein work performed by the CRs constltuted a change in
conditions of employment and that the two positions that were mer ged are not substannally
similar. In fact, they are so dissimilar that the SR position is graded as a GS-8 position,
while the CR position is graded as a GS-11. Although some CRs had prior experience as:
SRs, those employees do. not represent the entire group of CRs impacted by the change.
Moreover, the Respondent provided training to all CRs, even those with prior SR experience.
While “usually about three that would automatically Just go up without being prompted by
management[]”, there were a total of eleven CRs in the office prior to the promotion of all of
the SRs. Tr. 123. Thus, not all of the CRs had sufficient knowledge or understanding of the
job requirements necessary to perform the duties required of an SR. Further, the Respondent
solicited ideas about what CRs would need to learn and conducted training to teach them
how to perform SR dutles after there were no SRs assigned w1th1n the office. Tr. 133 34,

The most glaring difference between the two positions is the investigative and
‘adjudicative nature of the work performed by a CR, as opposed to the administrative nature
of work performed by a SR. The fact that the newly promoted SRs believed that they would
no longer be performing receptionist or telephone duties, combined with their belief that
CR work was substantially different from that of an SR demonstrates that a change was
implemented when CRs were required to perform those SR duties. After the office was
converted to an all CR office, all CRs had to per form SR duties. The fact that the new duties
may have been of a lesser grade and thus easier to grasp or perform, does not mean assigning
those new duties was not a change to the CR’s conditions of employment and I find that a
change was unilaterally 1mposed w1thout providing the Umon not1oe oran opportumty to

bargain.
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The argument that there was no change in the conditions of the employment because
the SRs were promoted is without merit. The Respondent’s own witness conceded that prior
to the change, SR duties were not typically performed by a CR. Tr. 132. Testimony that
spoke of “we’re an all-[claims representative] office, and everyone is going to be doing all of
the work now[]” and “she [Ruth Taylor] stated that she was advised by the area director .
to either convert us to an all-CR office or a generalist office, and she felt like the all- CR
office was the best scenario . ...” (Tr. 21, 48-49), all demonstrate that a conversion,
consolidation, hybridization was unilaterally imposed upon the employees in the Jefferson
City field office. While a few may have benefited from this change, the great majority of the
employees in the office did not, and they were adversely affected by the restructuring that
was implemented without notice or an opportunity to bargaining over the change. The -
laundry list of conditions of employment presented by the Respondent as things that were not
changed for employees does not prove that no change occurred or that the change that was
made was not more than de minimis.

The Change Was Greatef Than De Minimis

Prior to implementing a change in conditions of employment, an agency is required to
provide the exclusive representative with notice of the change and an opportunity to bargain..
‘over those aspects of the change that are within the duty to bargain, if the change will have
more than a de minimis effect on conditions of employment. U.S. Penitentiary,
Leavenworth, Kan., 55 FLRA 704, 715 (1999). In determining whether a change is m01e

.than de minimis, the Authority places principal emphasis on general areas of consideration
such as the nature and extent of the effect or reasonably foreseeable effect of the change on
conditions of employment of bargaining unit employees. Dep’t of HHS, Soc. Sec. Admin.,
24 FLRA 403, 408 (1986). ‘When the duties and tasks of the two positions in question are
substantially similar, there is no obligation to bargain with a union regarding implementation
of procedures or appropriate arrangements pertaining to the reassignment of the employee.
Id. However, the duties and tasks assigned in this situation were not substantially similar,
and this conclusion is evidenced by the distinct pos1t1on descriptions and grade levels
assigned. The Respondent’s contention otherwise is the equivalent of declaring that all the
employees do government work and that is close enough. Obviously, it was not close
enough for those who estabhshed the grade levels assigned to the positions. ;

In this case, the nature of the change was foreseeable and directly affected employees
as a whole. U.S. Dep’t of the Treasury, IRS, 56 FLRA 906, 913 (2000). It can be reasonably
inferred that the Respondent foresaw the change as the implementation of SR training for the
CRs in the office demonstrates that management understood that some CRs lacked sufficient
knowledge and skills necessary to perform SR duties. Additionally, the content of training
between prior CRs and new CRs did not overlap. Tr. 34. The duties and responsibilities
required of the two positions vary enough to merit two distinct grades under the GS system -
and incumbent CRs had to perform duties previously not required of them. For example, .
while an SR had to answer the phones and deal with the public at the front counter of the
office, this was not required of CRs prior to the change. Prior to the office conversion and
duty consolidation, CRs were not ass1gned front desk duties and rarely helped out with such
duties. Tr. 18, 24. Since the conversion however, what was previously solely the province
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of an SR now occupies between forty and sixty percent of a CR’s standard workday.

Id. at 62, 94. Addltlonally, CRs rarely dealt with Division of Family Services Workloads
representative payees’ checks, Medicare, and initial apphcant intake prior to the change.
Tr. 21-24. Because of this, the change was more than de minimis and by imposing such
change upon all CRs, even those incumbent to the position prior to the promotions, the
Respondent directly affected bargaining unit employees as a whole.

Further evidence of more than a de minimis impact is demonstrated by the fact that
the workload for some incumbent CRs increased with the addition of new responsibilities.
All of the new CRs were trained as Title X VI representatives, thus, the incumbent Title II
CRs maintained all of their prior CR workload. Tr. 62. They received no reduction in their
CR workload by virtue of the newly promoted CRs, but they now had to perform the
traditional SR duties previously performed by those promoted. Id. This impeded their
ability to do the CR work already assigned to them. Id. at 63. While Ruth Taylor’s refusal to
bargain was in part based on her belief that the increased workload imposed by SR duties
would be offset by decreases in CR duties, no reduction in CR workloads were experienced
~ by the Title Il CRs. GC Ex. 7. A change in conditions of employment that causes an
employee to be assigned more work than that assigned prior to the change constitutes a
greater than de minimis change for those employees whose duties are substantially increased..
U.S. Dep’t of the Air Force, AFMC, Space & Missile Sys. Ctr., Detachment 12, Kirtland®
AFB, N.M., 64 FLRA 166 (2009); 554 Gilroy Branch Office, Gzlroy, Cal 53 FLRA 1358,

(1 998) ,

CONCLUSION

I find that the Respondent violated § 7116(a)(1) and (5) of the Statute when it refused
to bargain in good faith after the conversion of the Jefferson City field office to a full Claims
Representative office resulting in Claims Representatlves having to perform lesser graded
Service Representatives duties.

Accordingly, I recommend that the Authority adopt the following. order:
ORDER

Pursuant to § 2423.41(c) of the Rules and Regulations of the Authorlty and § 71 18 of
the Federal Service Labor-Management Relations Statute (Statute), the Social Secuuty
Administration, Region VII, Kansas City, Mlssoun shall

1. Cease and desist from:
" (a) Changing employees’ conditions' of e'rriploym'enf without first providing the
American Federation of Government Employees, Local 1336, AFL-CIO (Union) with notice

and an opportunity to bargain to the extent required by the Statute. -

(b) In any like or related manner, interfering with, restraining, or coercing
bargaining unit employees in the exercise of the rights assured by the Statute. -
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2. Take the following affirmative actions in order to effectuate the pmposes and policies
of the Statute:

(a) Upon request, bargain with the Union to the extent required by the Statute over
the impact and implementation of changes to the conditions of employment for bargaining
unit employees that resulted from Claims Representatives being assigned lesser graded
Service Representative duties.

(b) Post at its facilities where bargaining unit employees represented by the Union are
located, copies of the attached Notice on forms to be furnished by the Federal Labor
Relations Authority. Upon receipt of such forms, they shall be signed by the Regional
Commissioner, Mike Kramer, and shall be posted and maintained for sixty (60) consecutive
days thereafter, in conspicuous places, including all bulletin boards and other places where
notices to employees are customarily posted. Reasonable steps shall be taken to ensure that
such Notices are not altered, defaced, or covered by any other material. '

(c) Disseminate a copy of the signed Notice through the Agency’s email system to all
bargaining unit employees represented by the Union, on the same day, that the Notice is -

phys1ca11y posted.
(d) Pursuant to § 2423.41(e) of the Rules and Regulations of the Authonty, notify the

Regional Director, Chicago Region, Federal Labor Relations Authority in writing, within
thirty (30) days from the date of this Order, as to what steps have been taken to comply.

0, PP

CHARLES R. CENTER
Chief Administrative Law Judge

Issued, Washington, D.C_., June 30, 2016




NOTICE TO ALL EMPLOYEES
POSTED BY ORDER OF

THE FEDERAL LABOR RELATIONS AUTHORITY

The Federal Labor Relations Authority has found that the Social Security Administration,
Region VII, Kansas City, Missouri, violated the Federal Service Labor-Management
Relations Statute (Statute), and has ordered us to post and abide by this Notice.

WE HEREBY NOTIFY OUR EMPLOYEES THAT:

WE WILL NOT fail to provide the American F ederation of Government Employees,
Local 1336 (Union) with notice and an opportunity to bargain changes to conditions of
employment of bargaining unit employees. '

WE WILL NOT in any like or related manner, interfere with, restrain, or coerce bargaining
unit employees in the exercise of the rights assured by the Statute.

WE WILL, upon request, negotiate in good faith with the Union over the changes to -
conditions of employment of bargaining unit employees resulting from assigning Claims
Representatives lesser graded Service Representatives duties.

(Respondent/Agency)

Dated: ' 3 R " By:

(Signature) . ' (Title)

This Notice must remain posted for sixty (60) consecutive days from the date of posting and
must not be altered defaced or covered by any other material.

If employees have any quest1ons concerning this Notice or compliance with any of its
provisions, they may communicate directly with the Regional Director, Chicago Region,
Federal Labor Relations Authority, whose address is: 224 S. Michigan Ave., Suite 445,
Illinois 60604, and whose telephone number is: (312) 886-3465.




